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FINDINGS OF FACT
A. Respondents Are Fiduciaries and Young is an Experienced Securities Professional.
L. Saving2Retire is a registered investment adviser (Trans. 67:5-7), and Young, as is

its sole owner and managing member, is an associated person of an investment adviser. (Trans.
67:2-4.) Young owes fiduciary duties to her clients. (Trans. 68:20-22.)

Page 67 :

2  Q You are the sole owner and managing member of
3 Saving2Retire, LLC?

4 A Yes, I am.

5 Q Saving2Retire is a commission-registered

6 investment advisor, correct?

7 A Thatis correct. It was.

Page 68

20 Q As the sole owner and managing member of the
21 advisor, you owe fiduciary duties to your clients?
22 A That is correct.

2 During all relevant periods, S2R operated out of Young’s private residence in Sugar

Land, Texas, and had no other employees. (Ex. 9 [Young Dep. 18:1-10; 28:25-29:2].) S2R

managed client accounts on a non-discretionary basis and Young claims it had approximately $4
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million to $4.5 million in assets under management. (Ex. 9 [Young Dep. at 33:21-34:5; 89:5-6].)
Page 18:1-10:

1 Q. What is the principal place of business for

2 Saving2Retire?

3 A. The principal place of business is 11323

4 Siamese lane, Sugar Land, Texas 77478.

5 Q. That is also your home address?

6 A. That is correct.

7 Q. Has the business always been operated out of
8 your home?

9 A. Not always. Saving2Retire has always been

10 operated out of my home.

Pages 28:25-29:2:

25 Q. And Saving2Retire — are there any other
1 employees other than you?

2 A. No.

Pages 33:21-34:5:

21 Q. During the period 2011 to 2015, what were

22 Saving2Retire's assets under management?

23 A. Saving2Retire had zero clients for the

24 internet. And the existing clients were approximately
25 in the 4, $4 1/2 million range for total assets.

1 Q. What has been the highest assets under

2 management — the highest point of the assets under
3 management between 2011 and 2015?

4 A.1don't know exactly. I would say

5 approximately 4 1/2 million.

3. Young has over 30 years of experience in the securities industry. Before becoming
the sole manager, owner, and Chief Compliance Officer of S2R, Young was a registered
representative from the mid-1980s to approximately 1996. (Trans. 67:22-68:1.) In 1997, Young
formed Young Capital Growth Company, an investment management consulting firm, which she

operated until she formed S2R in 2011. (Trans. 68:2-11.)
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Page 67

22 Q Before becoming the sole manager, owner, and

23 chief compliance officer of Saving2Retire, you were a
24 registered representative from the mid 1980s to

25 approximately 1996?

Page 68

1 A Mid 1980s - that seems correct.

2 Q In 1997, you formed Young Capital Growth

3 Company, an investment management consulting firm,
4 correct?

5 A Investment management consulting -- it was a

6 investment advisory firm.

7 Q An investment advisory firm?

8 A Yes.

9 Q And you operated that investment advisory firm
10 until you formed Saving2Retire in 2011?

11 A That is correct.

4. As S2R’s Chief Compliance Officer, Young is responsible for ensuring that S2R
complies with its regulatory requirements, including Advisory Act requirements. (Trans. 68:12-
16.)

Page 68

12 Q As Saving2Retire's chief compliance officer,

13 you are responsible for ensuring that Saving2Retire
14 complies with its regulatory requirements, including
15 advisory act requirements?

16 A That is correct.

5. Young signed the firm’s registration and subsequent Forms ADV for the years 2011
through 2015. (Trans. 68:17-19.)
Page 68
17 Q You signed the firm's registration and
18 subsequent forms ADV for the years 2011 through 2015?
19 A That is correct.

B. S2R Relied on the Internet Adviser Exemption for SEC Registration, But Never Had
A Single Internet Client.

6. From March 2011 through early 2015, S2R claimed that it was eligible for
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Commission registration, relying on the internet adviser exemption in Rule 203A-2(¢e) under the

Advisers Act. (Trans. 70:1-5)

7.

Page 70

1 Q In order to be registered with the Commission

2 beginning in 2011, Saving2Retire relied on what's known
3 as the Internet Advisor Exemption set forth in the

4 Advisor's Act, correct?

5 A Correct.

Respondents never consulted an attorney and did not seek legal advice as to

whether Rule 203A-2(e) applied to S2R’s business. Young did not hire any professionals, lawyers,

or consultants to help her analyze whether S2R would qualify as an internet adviser. (Trans. 70:6-

13.)

8.

Page 70

1 Q In order to be registered with the Commission

2 beginning in 2011, Saving2Retire relied on what's known
3 as the Internet Advisor Exemption set forth in the

4 Advisor's Act, correct?

5 A Correct.

From the time Young formed S2R in 2011 through 2016, S2R had never had a

single internet client, and never had a single dollar of revenue come in through an internet client.

(Trans. 74:10-16.)

9.

Page 74

10 Q From the time you formed Saving2Retire in 2011
11 through 2016, Saving2Retire never advised a single
12 internet client; is that correct?

13 A That is correct.

14 Q And never had a single dollar of revenue come
15 in through an Internet client?

16 A That is correct.

Young admits that, at least between the years 2011 and 2013, S2R did not have an

interactive website. (Trans. 71:3-5.)

3 Q Okay. So between 2011 and September, 2013,
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4 Saving2Retire did not have an active Website?
5 A That's correct.

C. S2R Provided Investment Advice to More than 14 Clients.
10.  All of Respondents’ client accounts were held at Scottrade beginning at the time
S2R became registered with the Commission as an investment adviser. (Trans. 69:21-25.)

Page 69

21 Q Would you agree that all of your client

22 accounts were held at Scottrade beginning at the time
23 that you became registered with the Commission as an
24 investment advisor?

25 A Some time shortly after, yes.

11.  Young refused to provide to the SEC a list of clients by name or account number.
Instead, she provided what purported to be a list of every one of S2R’s clients, listing only 8 clients
and identifying them as “Clients A-H.” (Ex. 15; Trans. 76:9-17.) She testified that Scottrade, the
custodian, would have the accurate client list. (Ex. 9 [Young Dep. at 90:9-22].)

Trial Trans Page 76

9 Q You never produced a list of clients by — by

10 specific name or account number, correct?

11 A That is -- by -- not -- by account numbers,

12 yes, that is correct.

13 Q Instead, you provided to the Commission, what
14 purported to be a list of every one of your clients
15 listing only eight clients and identifying them as
16 Clients A through H?

17 A Correct.

Deposition Pages 89:16-90:8, 90:9-22

9 Q. Okay. Well, if you had to create this

10 information today, where would you go to look?

11 A. I would go -- today I would go to either the

12 website, on the broker/dealer website. I would go there
13 and create them.

14 Q. To Scottrade?

15 A. Yes, I would go to Scottrade.

16 Q. Okay. Saving2Retire does not keep a list

17 itself of all clients and their account information?
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12.

13.

18 A. I do keep a list when I'm billing through

19 Scottrade. I would give the end-of-a-month balance or
20 something right before billing.

21 Q. But that's done through Scottrade?

22 A. Yes, it's done through Scottrade.

Young does not count her relatives as “clients.” (Trans. 76:18-22.)

18 Q You don't consider a client, quote, client,
19 someone who you're related to?

20 A No.

21 Q Is that correct? You don't?

22 A That is correct.

According to the Scottrade records, S2R had 20 clients for the one year time period

ending November 30, 2014. (Ex. 44; Trans. 48:13-49:6.)

14.

Page 48

13 Q What time period did you focus on specifically
14 for this summary?

15 A Her registration period. But we requested

16 documents for her registration period, but based on the
17 rule, it states the de minimus rule is for the preceding
18 12 months, so we focused on November, 2014, and the
19 previous 12 months.

20 Q How did you determine how many clients Ms.
21 Young or Saving2Retire advised?

22 A So in reading the rule, it's -- it's -- in

23 Section E, it specifically tells you the definition to

24 go -- what rule to go to for the specific definition of a
25 client. -

Page 49

1 Q So you applied the -- the definition of client

2 that's found in the Investment Advisor Act?

3 A Yes, ma'am.

4 Q In applying that definition, you determined

5 that there were how many advisory clients?

6 A 20.

Each of the clients was invested in Dimensional Fund accounts, which are not

available to retail clients, and must be purchased through an investment adviser. (Trans. 49:7-19.)

Page 49
7 Q What types of funds, after -- when you reviewed
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8 the account statements, what types of funds, in general,
9 were the client accounts invested in?

10 A From my recollection, she used Dimensional Fund

11 Advisors, a mutual fund company for most of her clients.
12 Q And explain what that is?

13 A Dimensional Fund Advisor is a mutual fund

14 company that you can only purchase for clients through an
15 investment -- through an investment advisor.

16 Q So not just anyone can invest in these funds?

17 A Correct. They are not open to retail clients.

18 Q You have to go through an investment advisor?

19 A Correct.

15.  Each of the 20 clients and Ms. Young signed an advisory fee contract in which the
client states that he or she has entered in to a separate agreement to pay management or advisory
fees to S2R. (Ex. 23; Trans. 49:23-51:9.)

Page 49

23 Q Let's turn to Exhibit 23. Explain what Exhibit

24 23 is.

25 A This is part of the new account statement

1 paperwork, and it's titled, "Investment advisor limited

2 trading and advisory fee authorization."

3 Q These documents were obtained from Scottrade?

4 A Yes, ma'am.

5 Q And is this a compilation of the investment

6 advisor trading agreements that were taken from the
7 client account records?

8 A Yes, ma'am.

9 Q What specifically did you look at with regard

10 to the advisory fee contracts in Exhibit 23?

11 A I wanted to see what authority she had. So

12 here, she's -- the client is agreeing to under

13 authorization for advisory fees that I authorize

14 Scottrade to debit my account for advisory fees, and it
15 lists at the bottom, investment advisory information, the
16 account number, her fee account number, and her signature
17 and her -- the name of her company.

18 Q Okay. So read that first sentence on the top

19 of the page under, " Authorization to pay advisory fee."
20 A It states, "I have entered into a separate

21 agreement to pay management or advisory fees to my
22 advisor."

23 Q And is there a similar representation for each
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24 one of these client accounts?
25 A Yes, ma'am.

Page 51

1 Q And then on the kind of fourth of the way down

2 in that first box, authorization for advisory fees, the

3 box is checked that says, "I authorize Scottrade to debit
4 my account for advisory fees," correct?

5 A Correct.

6 Q And is there a — is the box - is there an

7 identical box checked on each one of these client account
8 forms?

9 A Yes, ma'am.

10 Q What did that signify to you?

11 A That she's holding herself out as the

12 investment advisor of these accounts, and she is

13 informing her clients -- her clients were agreeing to pay
14 her advisory fees.

16.  Each of the clients authorized and appointed Young/S2R to “act on the client’s
behalf and in the same manner and with the same force and effect” as the client could do, and
authorized Scottrade to follow the adviser’s instructions with respect to enumerated powers,
including buying and selling securities, and receiving information about the client’s account
(including online account information, account statements, trade confirmations, and tax
information). (Ex. 23, e.g., SECFWRO-FW-03993-000592; Trans. 51:22-52:19.)

Page 51

22 Q And if you'll look at just Page 2, for example,

23 the second page of Exhibit 23, will you read just that
24 first paragraph under the account owner authorization
25 investment advisor trading powers?

Page 52

1 A "I/we as the undersigned account owners hereby

2 authorize and appoint the investment advisor listed below
3 and its employees and agents, if applicable, to manage my
4 Scottrade brokerage account. The advisor is authorized to
5 act for me and on my behalf and in the same manner and
6 with the same force and effect as I might or could do,

7 and Scottrade is authorized to follow my investment

8 advisors instructions as it's directly instructed by me
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9 with respect to the following authorized powers."
10 Q Then it enumerates some powers that the

11 investment advisor has on behalf of the client?
12 A Yes.

13 Q This gives the investment advisor the authority
14 to take certain actions with respect to the client
15 accounts?

16 A Yes.

17 Q And is there a — an identical representation
18 for each of the client accounts?

19 A Yes.

17.  Clients of an investment adviser pay management or advisory fees to an advisor as
a way of compensating the advisor for providing investment advice. (Trans. 51:15-21.)

Page 51

15 Q And in your experience, why does a client pay
16 management or an advisory fee to an advisor?
17 A For the investment advice of that investment

18 advisor, to manage their accounts.

19 Q It's a way of compensating the advisor for

20 providing investment advice?

21 A Yes, ma'am.

18.  The SEC examination concluded, among other things, that S2R was not properly
registered with the SEC as an internet adviser because: (1) it was not providing investment advice
exclusively through an interactive website; and (2) it surpassed any applicable de minimus
exception, if any, because it advised more than 14 clients. (Trans. 56:16-57:3)

Page 56

16 Q Based on your examination of Saving2Retire, did
17 you reach any conclusions about whether Saving2Retire was
18 properly registered as an Internet investment advisor
19 with the SEC?

20 A I did.

21 Q What did you conclude?

22 A My conclusion was that she was not properly

23 registered under the Internet investment advisor role.

24 Q And why was that?

25 A First, she was not providing investment advice
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Page 57

1 solely through an interactive Website, and then second,

2 she surpassed the de minimus exception by exceeding the
3 number of accounts that was allowed.

D. Respondents Failed to Produce Requested Documents to OCIE Examination Staff As
Required By Law.

19.  In November 2014, the staff of the Commission’s Office of Compliance
Examinations (“OCIE”) and Inspection conducted a correspondence compliance examination of
S2R. (Trans. 75:11-14.)

11 Q Okay. Beginning in approximately November,

12 2014, the SEC conducted a compliance examination of
13 Saving2Retire, correct?

14 A Correct.

20.  As the managing member of an investment adviser, Young is aware that all of the
records of the investment adviser are, by law, subject to examination by representatives of the
Commission. (Trans. 75:19-76:8.)

Page 75

19 Q As the managing member of an investment

20 advisor, you were aware that all of the records of the
21 investment advisor are, by, law, subject to examination
22 by representatives of the Commission?

23 A Would you repeat the question?

24 Q As a managing member of an investment advisor,

25 you were aware that all of the records of the investment

Page 76

1 advisor are, by law, subject to examination by

2 representatives of the Commission?

3 A I'm not sure what I was aware of at that time.

4 The reason I'm trying to think when were you aware of it.
5 I'm not sure what exactly I was aware of at that time.

6 Q Have you since become aware that that is the

7 case?

8 A Yes.

21. On November 19, 2014, the staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission sent
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a document request to S2R. In the document request, the firm was notified that the Commission
was conducting an examination pursuant to Section 204 of the Advisers Act. (Ex. 9 [Young Dep.]
at 55:6-56:1; Ex. 2)

Page 55

6 Q. Let's look at Exhibit 1 that you have before

7 you. The attachment to -- the first attachment is a

8 letter to you written by Linda Hoffman, CPA, supervisory
9 staff accountant, dated November 19th, 2014, regarding
10 the examination.

11 Do you recall this letter? Do you recall

12 receiving this letter?

13 A. I cannot recall the exact letter. It seems

14 familiar.

15 Q. Do you generally recall being informed in

16 writing that the staff of the Securities and Exchange

17 Commission is conducting an examination of Saving2Retire
18 as part of the office of compliance and inspection and
19 examinations initiative to engage with the population of
20 investment advisers that had never been examined?

21 A. That is correct.

22 Q. And do you generally recall, as this letter

23 sets forth, that you were asked to provide specific

24 information that was on a enclosed list of documents

25 that were requested from Saving2Retire?

Page 56
1 A. That is correct.

22.  On December 5, 2014, the staff received a document production from Young that
contained a few pages of documents addressing some of the information requested in the
November 19, 2014 letter, but which lacked most of the requested documentation. Young’s
response stated, among other things, that “[glathering information in any additional specificity
would be burdensome to my business in time and income lost. My clients believe and I share their
belief that additional specificity violates the protections our Constitution provides its citizens.
Marian Young, managing member.” (Ex. 3.)

23.  OnDecember 11, 2014, the staff spoke with Young about the lack of production of

Division’s Proposed Findings of Fact/Conclusions of Law Page 11
In re Saving2Retire, LLC, et al.



certain documents from the original document request. During that call, the staff discussed the
firm’s responsibility to provide documents under the Advisers Act, and indicated that additional
documents would be required. (Ex. 4; Trans. 36:18-25; 37:1-5; 37:14-38:8; 39:22-)

Page 36

18 Q What happened after the SEC received this

19 response? What was the next step in the — in the

20 examination?

21 A So that's when I came on board, when this

22 response was provided. I took a look at these -- her

23 response, the documents that she provided. We reached
24 out to her to schedule a conference call, and we held a
25 conference call.

Page 37

1 Q Can you describe that call that you held? First

2 of all, who was on the call?

3 A Sure. Ms. Young was on the call, myself, the

4 exam manager, Linda Hoffman, and then her supervisor,
5 Michael Gunst.

14 Q What was the purpose of that call?

15 A To discuss her requirements to produce

16 documents and just to learn a little bit more about the

17 firm since this was inadequate -- since her response was
18 inadequate.

19 Q Did you try to explain to her what the rules

20 were that required — that required the advisor to

21 produce documents to the SEC upon request?

22 A We did. First, we -- during the course of the

23 conversation, we tried to say, "Why didn't" -- you know,
24 "Why didn't you provide this?" She would say, "why do I
25 have to produce that?" Very defensive and evasive. I

Page 38

1 actually had the rule book with me and I said this rule

2 states as a registered investment advisor, you have to

3 maintain all these records. As a registered investment

4 advisor you are subject to examinations, and then we even

5 went back to the form that we discussed earlier

6 requiring -- stating all the rules about how you're

7 supposed to produce documents and why you're supposed to
8 produce them.
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Page 39

22 Q What happened next? What was the next step?
23 A So that -- so after having that discussion with

24 her, we tried to make it very clear that you're -- as a

25 registered investment advisor with the SEC, that you're

Page 40

1 subject to examination. You're supposed to provide all

2 these records. These are all the records that the rules

3 state are required to maintain. We said that we are

4 going to be sending her an e-mail with the same document
5 request, and that she could provide them on a rolling

6 basis. And by "rolling basis," I mean start giving us

7 what you have immediately instead of a specific deadline
8 in the future. We tried to be open and work with her,

9 you know, start giving us documents as soon as possible
10 to alleviate our risk, our concemns.

24,  The staff sent a follow up e-mail to Young on December 11, 2014 memorializing
the production of those additional documents requested during the telephone call. Young agreed to
produce the documents on a rolling basis and to complete the production no later than December
19, 2014. On December 12, 2014, Young sent an email to the staff indicating that she would not
be able to produce documents until the following week. (Exhibits 4, 5.)

25.  On December 19, 2014, the lead examiner, Javier Villarreal, called Young to
verify that the documents would be produced as agreed. Young returned that call and indicated
that she would not produce any additional documents. She also indicated that she would be
withdrawing the firm’s registration with the Commission. Mr. Villarreal informed her that
regardless of whether she intended to withdraw the firm’s registration, she was still required to
produce the requested documents. At that point, she abruptly ended the conversation and hung
up. (Trans. 42:11-43:19.)

Page 42

11 Q Okay. And then after that point, you had
12 another follow-up call with Ms. Young?
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13 A 1did. So as the follow-up request said,

14 "Please provide documents no later than December 19th,"
15 on the 12th, she said she was ill and she wasn't going to

16 provide documents. So on the morning of December 19th, I
17 called her. She didn't answer, but I left a voicemail

18 saying who I was, you know, part of the examination, are
19 you going to be providing the documents that we requested
20 and that you said that you would. I left a message and

21 then she called me back that afternoon.

22 Q What did Ms. Young say during that phone call

23 that afternoon?

24 A Initially she said that she was going to be

25 withdrawing her registration. She would not be providing

Page 43

1 any of these documents. Then she said that -- went on a

2 bit of a rant saying we have too much regulation, we're

3 not keeping in mind that she's a small business, we are

4 asking for too much, she wasn't aware of all these rules

5 and regulations. I let her -- I tried to give her the

6 opportunity to speak, and then I tried to reiterate,

7 well, you're still -- you're still registered as

8 investment advisor. You're still subject to the

9 examination. These are all things that you are supposed
10 to maintain. She said, well, I'm not going to provide

11 them. I'm not -- this is it. I'm like, "Well, the

12 examination has been open. We still have to continue

13 with it." I tried to get her to either see if I could

14 schedule a follow-up call with management or to see if I
15 could patch in a manager, but she abruptly ended the call
16 and said, no, I'm not providing anything else.

17 Q So she refused to provide any additional

18 documents?

19 A Yes.

26.  OnJanuary 5, 2015, the SEC sent a letter to Young setting forth the chronology of
requests that had been made to Respondents, and making a final request that S2R produce all
documents previously requested by January 12, 2015. (Ex. 6; Ex. 9 [Young Dep.] at 112:14-18
(stating that the letter “seems accurate”).)

Page 112:14-18:

14 Q. Okay. But is there anything in that paragraph
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15 that you -- as you sit here today, that you think is not
16 accurate?

17 A. They were conducting an exam, et cetera. It

18 seems accurate.

27.  The next day, on January 6? 2015, Young contacted her Congressman to conduct an
inquiry into the fact that the SEC had requested client information from S2R. (Ex. 7; Ex. 9 [Young
Dep.] at 113:10-115:18.)

Pages 113:10-115:18:

10 Q. I'm handing you what's been marked as

11 Deposition Exhibit 6.

12 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 6 was marked for

13 identification.)

14 Q. Do you recognize this document?

15 A. Yes.

16 Q. What is this?

17 A. I contacted my congressman, Pete Olson's,

18 office, yes.

19 Q. Can you describe what this document is?

20 A. It's -- they asked me to send in my -- whatever

21 I wanted with the congressional office to look into, and
22 so this is me filling out this document for the

23 congressional office.

24 Q. Okay. So the issue that you were bringing to

25 your congressman was that, in the first page, it says —

1 I mean in the first paragraph, The Securities and

2 Exchange Commission, Fort Worth Regional Office Marshall
3 Gandy Associate Regional Director. As part of exam and
4 request for client information such as their account

5 number and statements some of clients contacted have

6 indicated they do not want this information sent to

7 government.

8 So you were contacting your congressman why?

9 A. For clarification on the privacy laws. I could

10 not get any information from the SEC on what are the

11 privacy laws and what are the rights of the clients when

12 they do not want to send that information in. Since I

13 could not get any response from them, I reached out to

14 the congressional office to see -- to give me some kind

15 of guidance on what is the requirements from the public

16 when they do not want that information sent in.
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17 So this was a result of that seeking

18 information to get some clarification on what are the
19 rights of the -- of the public.

20 Q. Where in this page does it talk about the

21 rights of your clients?

22 A. I mention here that, as part of the exam for --

23 the information was very short. A lot of it is verbal.

24 They just wanted an overview to keep it quick and then
25 in order for them to reach out and see. But all of this

1 was part of that process of trying to find an answer

2 that would allow me not to go against the wishes of

3 them, of my clients, since this is what their concerns

4 were. So that's what -- the answers I was trying to

5 receive. I could not get any answers from the SEC as

6 any kind of guidance, which I thought was different

7 because of the fact that normally they would tell you a

8 little bit.

9 But in this particular case, no. And then as a

10 result of not able to get any information on what to do,

11 then my remedy to the SEC was just to close down the

12 company and move on.

13 Q. Okay. So this document says you give your

14 personal authorization to Congressman Olson and/or his
15 staff designated by him to make a proper inquiry on your
16 behalf concerning the SEC Fort Worth regional office,
17 Marshall Gandy?

18 A. Right.

28.  Respondents failed to produce any of the requested documents. (Ex. 9 [Young
Dep.] at 113:6-9.)
Page 113:6-9:

6 Q. Okay. But whether it was this request or

7 another request, beyond what Savings2Retire initially
8 provided, there were no additional documents?

9 A. That is correct.

29.  Young did not produce a balance sheet, trial balance, general ledger, cash receipts
and disbursements journal, income statements, and cash flow statements to the SEC, because

“those documents were not current at that time.” (Ex. 9 at 106:3-107:7; Trans. 40:21-41:17.)
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Pages 106:3-107:7:

3 Q. So the records — well, let's just -- did you

4 provide -- or did Saving2Retire provide to the SEC a

5 balance sheet, trial balance, general ledger, cash

6 receipts and disbursements journal, income statements,
7 and cash flow statements as of the end of its most

8 recent fiscal year, which would be ending December 2013,
9 and the most current year-to-date, which would be ending
10 December - I mean October 2014? Did you --

11 A. There were -- those documents were not current

12 at that time because that I keep my documents and do the
13 reconciliations at the end of the year to close out the

14 year. I do it all at that point. There were no

15 documents that would have been available for that time
16 period without going back and trying to re-create to

17 close out the year. So that was not available for me to

18 send.

19 Q. It was not provided. Correct?

20 A. It was not available. I did not have it in a

21 form to send it to the SEC at that time.

22 Q. Okay. These were not records that the adviser

23 kept at the time?

24 A. The way my accounting was done was that I

25 traditionally —

1 Q. Just -- I don't want to know your accounting.
2 I just want to know —

3 A. Those records were not available at that time

4 to send to the SEC.

5 Q. They did not exist?

6 A. They were not available to send, meaning they
7 were not current, they had not been reconciled.

Trans. Page 40

21 Q And were any of these documents ever provided?
22 MR. COWAN: Excuse me. What exhibit are we on

23 now?

24 MS. BRANDT: Exhibit 4.

25 MR. COWAN: Thank you.

Page 41

1 A No.

2 BY MS. BRANDT:

3 Q For example, did Saving2Retire ever produce a

Division’s Proposed Findings of Fact/Conclusions of Law Page 17
In re Saving2Retire, LLC, et al.



4 general ledger?

5 A No.

6 Q Did Saving2Retire ever produce cash receipts or
7 disbursements journal?

8 A No.

9 Q Did Saving2Retire ever produce income statement
10 or cash flow statements?

11 A No.

12 Q Did Saving2Retire ever produce the brokerage
13 statements for all of its clients?

14 A No.

15 Q Did Saving2Retire ever produce the bank

16 statements for the advisor?

17 A No.

30. Young did not keep current bank statements or cancelled checks of the adviser, and
did not keep cash reconciliations. [Trans. 81:6-82:3]

Page 81

6 Q You did not keep current bank statements of the
7 advisor, correct?

8 A 1 did not keep --

9 Q Yes.

10 A -- bank statements are available online for

11 most banks.

12 Q Did you provide those documents to the

13 Commission?

14 A No.

15 Q Did you keep cancelled checks from — that
16 belonged to the advisor?

17 A Cancelled checked? Again, most documents are
18 available online if I have a need for them.

19 Q Did you keep them in your records as the
20 advisor?

21 A Checks that I had written?

22 Q Cancelled checks.

23 A Cancelled checks. My registry was a duplicate
24 registry, so they did not return cancelled checks.
25 Q Did you keep cash reconciliations of the

Page 82

1 advisor?

2 A Treceived one receipt per month, so, no, I
3 don't do cash reconciliations.
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E'

Exam Deficiency Letter

31.  The SEC examination found the following deficiencies, among others, and reported

them to Young as Managing Member of S2R in a letter dated February 4, 2015 (“Deficiency

Letter”):

(Ex. 8.)

Section 204 — Failure to Produce Records During the Course of an Examination

Saving2Retire has willfully violated Section 204(a) because it refused to provide records of
the adviser to the examination staff in the course of an examination. The examination staff
made three separate written requests for substantially the same documents with reasonable
time for production, but the firm refused to provide the requested documents. The staff
spoke with you on two separate occasions explaining the requirements to provide
documents; however you still declined to provide them. [Internal footnote omitted.]

Rule 204-2(a) — Books and Records

The adviser is not in compliance with Rule 204-2(a) because the adviser is not maintaining
the required books and records and/or the records are not current. For example, you are not
maintaining the required financial records such as a general ledger, balance sheet trial
balance, cash receipts and disbursements journals, income statement and bank statements.
Additionally, you stated during the telephone interview that your books and records are not
current. While the adviser is planning to withdraw its registration from the SEC, the
adviser is still required to maintain these records and to provide them to the examination
staff upon request.

Rule 203A-2(e) — SEC Registration Eligibili

In the Form ADV filings with the Commission, Saving2Retire claimed that it was eligible
to register with the Commission because it provided investment advice to all of its clients
exclusively through an interactive website, except that the adviser may provide investment
advice to fewer than 15 clients through other means during the preceding twelve months.
Based on documents obtained from the Saving2Retire’s custodian it has provided
investment [advice] to more than 15 clients in the prior 12 months. Therefore,:
Saving2Retire is not qualified for Commission registration under Section 203A.

32. Respondents did not respond to the Deficiency Letter. (Ex. 9 at 122:8-12].)

Page 122:8-12:
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8 Did you ever send a letter to the SEC where you

9 describe the steps that you would take or intend to take
10 with respect to each of the matters listed in the

11 deficiency letter?

12 A.I'm not aware of that at this point.

F. Young Produced No Documents and Failed to Appear for Testimony During the SEC
Investigation.

33.  During the enforcement investigation of this matter, the SEC sent investigative
subpoenas to Respondents oh May 6, 2015 for documents, and for Young’s testimony on July 30,
2015, August 25, 2015, and August 31, 2015. (Ex. 9, 11, 13, 14.) Young did not appear for
testimony, and Respondents did not produce any documents. (Ex. 9 at 151:18-152:15; 159:2-
164:4; 165:8-167:8; 170:2-5).

Page 151

18 Q. This is Bates numbered SECFWRO-FW03993-000032
19 through 000053. Do you recognize this document?

20 A. I don't recognize it, per se, but it's

21 addressed to me. So I don't recognize it, per se.

22 Q. Okay. This is a letter sent via UPS to you --

23 Saving2Retire and to you attaching - it's dated July

24 30th, 2015, and it's attaching a subpoena requiring you
25 to testify before the SEC on Wednesday, August 26, 2015.
Page 152

1 Do you recall receiving that subpoena?

2 A. I don't recall, per se. I see my signature on

3 the back of that, but I don't recall it, per se.

4 Q. So your signature on the UPS proof of delivery

S which shows on document Bates numbered ending 53 - is
6 that your signature?

7 A. Yes, it is.

8 Q. So you did receive the UPS package?

9 A. That's what it indicates, yes.

10 Q. And whether or not you recall receiving this

11 particular document, do you recall that you were

12 subpoenaed to testify in this time frame?

13 A. Yes.

14 Q. And did you appear for testimony?

15 A. No.
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Page 153 (regarding August 25 testimony date)

19 Q. And in the letter you state that you will not

20 be appearing for your testimony when you were subpoenaed
21 to appear. Correct?

22 A. Correct.

Page 159

2 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 14 was marked for

3 identification.)

4 Q. And this is a compilation of emails Bates

5 stamped SEC 45 through SEC 101. The first page is an
6 email from Catherine Floyd to you at two different email
7 addresses, dated Tuesday, August 25th, 2015 at 7:58

8 a.m., with an attachment and reads, Ms. Young, we

9 understand from your letter that you will not be coming
10 to our Fort Worth office for testimony on Wednesday,
11 August 26, 2015. To accommodate your financial

12 situation, we are willing to travel to Houston to take
13 your testimony. The new date, time, and location is in
14 the attached subpoena. Please let me know if you have
15 any questions.

16 First of all, do you recognize this document?

17 A. Yes.

18 Q. Okay. And did you receive a new subpoena as

19 this letter -- the attachment to this new subpoena

20 requiring you to appear for testimony on Monday, August
21 31st, 20157

22 A. I don't recall the new subpoena.

23 Q. You don't recall receiving that subpoena?

24 A. 1 don't recall specifically that one.

25 Q. Well, if you'd turn to page SEC 68, it is the

Page 160

1 UPS delivery confirmation showing that it was delivered
2 to your home address on Thursday, August 27th, 2015. Do
3 you have any reason to believe that that's not accurate?

4 A. Well, did I sign for it?

5 Q. I don't see your signature on here.

6 A. No, then I can't say for sure I received that.

7 Q. Do you have any reason to believe that the

8 delivery confirmation from UPS is false?

9 A. Well, if they didn't have me sign it -- I don't

10 know what their procedures would be if I'm traveling or
11 away. But if I didn't sign it, I can't be sure that I
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12 received it.

13 Q. Okay. But again, do you have any reason to

14 believe that it was not delivered to your house?

15 A. I can't say for sure whether it was delivered

16 or not.

17 Q. If you'll turn to SEC 70, looks like you got

18 it. This is an email from you to Catherine Floyd dated
19 Friday, August 28th, 2015, at 10:48 a.m. And you write,
20 Ms. Floyd, I cannot make a hearing set for Monday.

21 Sometime in late September will be a better time frame
22 for me. By then (NN shou1d be more
23 Thank you for your consideration. Marian

24 Young.

25 First of all, do you recognize this document?

Page 161

1 A. Yes.

2 Q. And do you recall sending an email to Ms. Floyd
3 informing her that you would not be appearing for your
4 deposition scheduled for that following Monday?

5 A. Yes, correct.

6 Q. And what were your [ 2t the time?
7 A. They're ongoing, as I just mentioned to you

8 before. And it was sometime during that time period. I
9 don't remember exactly. I do know that because of the
10 inquiry I was having various ||| | | | NN N

| (N So -

12 Q. How severe was your [ IIIEGEGE 2t the
13 time?

14 A. Well, enough that I have to ||| N for

15 it. It's pretty severe.

16 Q. Were you homebound?

17 A. 1 cannot tell you exactly on that date what was

18 going on, but I don't know exactly.

19 Q. Do you remember a time period in August 2015
20 where you were

21 A. No, I have not .

22 Q. What about — did you have any travel

23 restrictions during that time?

24 A. No, I know of no travel restrictions.

25 Q. Okay. If you'll turn the page one more to SEC

Page 162

171, it's a letter from Catherine Floyd to you dated

2 August 28th, 2015, at 2:35 p.m. And it states, Ms.

3 Young, since you are unable to appear for testimony on
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4 Monday, August 31st, 2015, we will be sending you a

5 subpoena with a new date and time. Please note that you
6 will be required to appear for testimony at the Texas

7 State Securities Board in Houston, Texas, on September
8 14th, 2015 at 9 a.m.

9 Do you recognize this document?

10 A. I do not recognize that one.

11 Q. Do you recall the subject matter?

12 A. I don't recall that one, no.

13 Q. Do it — is it your position that you did not

14 receive this?

15 A. I can't be for sure, but I do not recall.

16 Q. Do you recall receiving a subpoena requiring

17 you to appear for testimony at the Texas State

18 Securities Board in September?

19 A. No, I do not recall receiving a subpoena to

20 appear at the Texas State Securities Board.

21 Q. Okay. And then if you'll look at the next

22 page, is SEC 72. This is an email from Ms. Floyd to you
23 at three different email addresses attaching an August
24 31st, 20185, letter and subpoena. And the email says,

25 Please see the attached subpoena with a new date and

Page 163

1 time.

2 Do you recall receiving this?

3 A. I do not recall receiving this.

4 Q. Do you have any reason to believe that you did

5 not receive it?

6 A. I don't recall receiving it.

7 Q. Do you have problems with your email delivery?

8 A. Sometimes it will bounce to spam, depending on

9 who it's coming from. Sometimes because I use an

10 aggregator for the mail, I notice that it will not come

11 in for some reason, and then sometimes it show up. But
12 there are some filters that the mail companies put on.
13 If it's something they don't recognize as a contact,

14 they will throw it in spam, or whatever.

15 Q. Okay. And this was also sent via UPS. Do you

16 recall receiving the subpoena that's attached requiring
17 you to appear for testimony on Monday, September 14th,
18 2015? Do you recall receiving it via UPS?

19 A. I don't recall receiving it.

20 Q. So is it your testimony that you did not

21 receive the subpoena either via email or via UPS?
22 A. My normal habit is anytime I receive a
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23 documentation or correspondence from the SEC or any
24 regulator, I respond back to that document or email.
25 And so if I did not respond back, it's because I did not

Page 164

1 receive it.

2 Q. Did you appear for testimony on Monday,

3 September 14th at the Texas State Securities Board?
4 A. No, I did not.

Page 165

8 Q. So this is the next day, Friday, September

9 11th, 2015, following the email that was sent that we
10 just looked at. This is an email from you to Ms. Floyd
11 and Ms. Gunn at the SEC dated Friday, September 11th,
12 2015, at 11:43 a.m. And it reads, Dear Ms. Floyd, I

13 have no additional disclosures that are different from
14 what I've already sent to the California regulator and
15 your office.

16 And then it goes on to say that, I believe I'm

17 in my -- I am within my legal rights under the fifth

18 amendment of the U.S. Constitution to notify you of
19 such, that I have no additional disclosures and do

20 invoke that right. I am still trying to get help with

21 some answers, but as of yet I have none. Thereby, I
22 cannot attend a hearing.

23 First of all, do you recognize this document?

24 A. Yes, I do.

25 Q. Is this an email that you drafted?

Page 166

1 A. Yes, I1did.

2 Q. Okay. And you sent this email?

3 A. Yes, Idid.

4 Q. And can you explain — well, is this in

S response to the subpoena requiring you to testify on
6 September 15th?

7 A. It's in response to a subpoena. I cannot be

8 sure which subpoena request it was.

9 Q. Okay. Well, in the last paragraph when you say
10 I cannot attend a hearing, what hearing are you talking
11 about?

12 A. The hearing I'm referring to is the subpoena

13 request hearing.

14 Q. The testimony that you were subpoenaed to

15 appear on September 15th?

Division’s Proposed Findings of Fact/Conclusions of Law Page 24
In re Saving2Retire, LLC, et al.



16 A. That hearing.

17 Q. At some point you got the subpoena or you were
18 notified that you needed to appear?

19 A. I think you mentioned two different subpoenas.

20 Q. Uh-huh.

21 A. I'know I received a subpoena. I'm not quite

22 sure I received the second subpoena, but I do know I
23 received a subpoena request.

24 Q. Okay. And you think that the hearing that

25 you're referring to was the deposition that was

Page 167

1 scheduled for the following Monday?

2 A. The subpoena is what I was referring to on

3 that.

4 Q. Uh-huh. Okay. And were you intending to

5 invoke your rights under the fifth amendment as to your
6 testimony or as to the documents or as to what?

7 A. I can't be sure at this point, but I do know

8 that was my response to a subpoena request.

Ex. 9, Page 170

2 Q. Other than correspondence, you did not produce

3 any documents or records of Saving2Retire to the SEC in
4 the 2015 time frame?

5 A. No, I don't believe so.

34.  On September 11, 2015, Young sent a letter to the SEC informing the staff that she

would not appear for testimony as noticed and would not be producing documents. She stated, “I
believe I am within my legal rights under the Fifth Amendment of the US Constitution to notify
you of such; that I have no additional disclosures and do invoke that right.” However, Young
never memorialized her Fifth Amendment invocation in a sworn statement. (Ex. 9 at 165:6-167:8;
Ex. 17.)

Pages 165:6-167:8

6 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 15 was marked for

7 identification.)

8 Q. So this is the next day, Friday, September

9 11th, 2015, following the email that was sent that we
10 just looked at. This is an email from you to Ms. Floyd

Division’s Proposed Findings of Fact/Conclusions of Law Page 25
In re Saving2Retire, LLC, et al.



11 and Ms. Gunn at the SEC dated Friday, September 11th,
12 2015, at 11:43 a.m. And it reads, Dear Ms. Floyd, 1

13 have no additional disclosures that are different from
14 what I've already sent to the California regulator and
15 your office.

16 And then it goes on to say that, I believe I'm

17 in my -- I am within my legal rights under the fifth

18 amendment of the U.S. Constitution to notify you of
19 such, that I have no additional disclosures and do

20 invoke that right. I am still trying to get help with

21 some answers, but as of yet I have none. Thereby, 1
22 cannot attend a hearing.

23 First of all, do you recognize this document?

24 A. Yes, I do.

25 Q. Is this an email that you drafted?

1 A. Yes, I did.

2 Q. Okay. And you sent this email?

3 A.Yes, I did.

4 Q. And can you explain — well, is this in

5 response to the subpoena requiring you to testify on
6 September 15th?

7 A. It's in response to a subpoena. I cannot be

8 sure which subpoena request it was.

9 Q. Okay. Well, in the last paragraph when you say
10 I cannot attend a hearing, what hearing are you talking
11 about?

12 A. The hearing I'm referring to is the subpoena

13 request hearing.

14 Q. The testimony that you were subpoenaed to

15 appear on September 15th?

16 A. That hearing.

17 Q. At some point you got the subpoena or you were
18 notified that you needed to appear?

19 A. I think you mentioned two different subpoenas.

20 Q. Uh-huh.

21 A. T'know I received a subpoena. I'm not quite

22 sure I received the second subpoena, but I do know I
23 received a subpoena request.

24 Q. Okay. And you think that the hearing that

25 you're referring to was the deposition that was

1 scheduled for the following Monday?

2 A. The subpoena is what I was referring to on

3 that.

4 Q. Uh-huh. Okay. And were you intending to
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5 invoke your rights under the fifth amendment as to your
6 testimony or as to the documents or as to what?

7 A.1 can't be sure at this point, but I do know

8 that was my response to a subpoena request.

35. Young did not know the contours of what the Fifth Amendment invocation means,
but that she “did not understand enough to appear for testimony and did not want to prejudice
[herself] without having more information.” (Ex. 9 at 167:21-169:5.)

Pages 167

21 Q. Did you advise a lawyer about what your rights

22 were under the fifth amendment in responding to an SEC
23 subpoena?

24 A. Ilooked up the research myself on the response

25 to that and believe I was within to notify of my fifth

Page 168

1 amendment.

2 Q. My question was: Did you consult an attorney

3 on that?

4 A. No, I did not.

5 Q. So by invoking your fifth amendment -- and by

6 that — what do you mean by that?

7 A. At the point, I was not fully aware of

8 everything going on with the SEC, the information

9 they're requesting. I felt like I was overwhelmed. I

10 didn't understand anything. I did not have no money for
11 legal advice. So I pretty much, under many other things
12 I read, felt like since I didn't have the advice I did

13 not want to prejudice myself in some way. So that was
14 why I invoked the fifth amendment.

15 Q. Did you feel like you had criminal exposure?

16 A. No, of course not.

17 Q. So you had no criminal exposure but you,

18 nonetheless, invoked your fifth amendment?

19 A. That is correct.

20 Q. And you don't know really the contours of what
21 the fifth amendment invocation means?

22 A. No. I thought it was appropriate in my case.

23 I had read it in some of the SEC documents that we were
24 allowed to use the fifth amendment. And I believe that
25 was the best course at that time.
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Page 169

1 Q. Your point was, basically, you just did not

2 want to appear for testimony?

3 A. I did not -- per that, I did not understand

4 enough to appear for testimony and did not want to
5 prejudice myself without having more information.

G. Current Registration Status
36.  AsofJanuary 2, 2015, S2R filed an amended Form ADV stating the firm is no
longer eligible to be registered with the Commission. (Trans. 86:19-23.)

19 Q On or about January 2nd, 2015, Saving2Retire

20 filed an amended Form ADV stating that the firm is no
21 longer eligible to be registered with the Commission; is
22 that correct?

23 A That is correct.

37.  Young testified: “I closed that internet advisory . . . [w]hen it became apparent to
me that I was out of my league, that I should not have been registered with the SEC because they
were not going to give me consideration as a small firm, which I believed in the beginning, based
on what I had read. And when that proved not to be the case, I need attorneys, I need this, I knew I
couldn’t afford it; so my remedy was to close down the company completely since it had never got
off its foot anyway.” (Ex. 9 at 154: 9-25.)

Pages154: 9-25:

9 Q. Then you go on to say, "I certify under penalty
10 of perjury; that the following is true and correct: 1.
11 The business Saving2Retire, Internet Adviser, is

12 closed.”" And was that correct at the time?

13 A. That is correct.

14 Q. When did you close the internet adviser?

15 A. I closed that internet advisory shortly after

16 when I first notified the SEC as far as the remedy.

17 When it became apparent to me that I was out of my
18 league, that I should not have been registered with the
19 SEC because they were not going to give me consideration
20 as a small firm, which I believed in the beginning,

21 based on what I had read. And when that proved not to
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22 be the case, I need attorneys, I need this, I knew I

23 couldn't afford it; so my remedy was to close down the
24 company completely since it had never got off its foot
25 anyway.

38.  On November 18, 2015, Saving2Retire filed its Form ADV changing its principal
place of business address back to its original Sugar Land, Texas address, and it filed for state
registration in Texas, which is still pending. (Ex. 9 at 175:8-18.)

Page 175

12 Q. Is Saving2Retire currently registered with any
13 State Securities Board?

14 A. They're pending still in Texas. Texas is a

15 pending registration. And as soon as -- and then

16 otherwise, currently the registration is still active

17 with the SEC pending acceptance by one of the state
18 regulators.

39.  S2R has never filed a Form ADV-W to withdraw its registration with the
Commission. (Trans. 75:7-10; 94:4-19.)

Page 75

7 Q Have you filed a Form ADVW withdrawing your
8 registration?

9 A I was told by the call center -- no,  have

10 not.

Page 94

4 Q So in the bottom paragraph of the first page of

5 RXS, you say, "I'm closing the Internet-only business,
6 which means I am not eligible for SEC registration"?

7 A Correct.

8 Q Why did you tell them that?

9 A The basis for that registration was the

10 Internet advisor, so if I close that down, I'm no longer

11 eligible under their requirements.

12 Q "I will be" - you put, "I will be withdrawing

13 that registration as soon as the transition is completed,
14 which I am estimating to be six to eight weeks." Did that
15 happen?

16 A No. I closed down the site and then I tried to

17 get the state registration, so I could still continue
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18 making a living and then I ran into a lot of roadblocks
19 there.

40.  On March 14, 2016, the California Commissioner of Business Oversight denied
S2R’s investment adviser application and barred Young from any position of employment,
management, or control of any investment adviser, broker-dealer, or commodity adviser. (Ex. 10.)

41.  S2R violated, and Young aided and abetted and caused S2R’s violations of,
Advisers Act Section 204(a) and Rules 204-2(a)(1), 204-2(a)(2), and 204-2(a)(6) thereunder by
failing to make S2R’s records available to the Commission, by impeding the Commission’s
examination and investigation, and by failing to keep and maintain true, accurate, and current
certain books and records. In re Saving2Retire, et al., Admin. Proceedings Rulings Rel. No. 4565
(Order on Summary Disposition).

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. “Investment advisers and their associated persons are fiduciaries.” In re Daniel
Bogar, et al., SEC Rel. No. ID-502, 2013 WL 3963608, at *19 (Aug. 2, 2013).

2. As fiduciaries, Respondents are required “to act for the benefit of their clients . . .
and to exercise the utmost good faith in dealing with clients, to disclose all material facts, and to
employ reasonable care to avoid misleading clients.” SEC v. DiBella, 2007 WL 2904211, at *12
(D. Conn. Oct. 3, 2007) (quoting SEC v. Moran, 922 F. Supp. 867, 895-96 (S.D. N.Y. 1996), affd,
587 F.3d 553 (2d Cir. 2009)).

3. Section 203A of the Advisers Act generally prohibits an investment adviser
regulated by the state where it maintains its principle place of business from registration with the
Commission unless it meets certain requirements. Rule 203A-1(a) sets the threshold requirement
for SEC registration for most advisers at $100 million of regulatory assets under management

(“AUM?”). Rule 203A-2(e) exempts from the prohibition on Commission registration certain
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investment advisers that provide advisory services through the Internet. See Internet Adviser

Exemption Adopting Rel., 2002 WL 31778384, at *1.!

Section 203A of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (the “Advisers Act”)
generally prohibits an investment adviser from registering with the
Commission unless that adviser has more than $25 million of assets under
management or is an adviser to a registered investment company. The
Commission is adopting new rule 203A-2(f) under the Advisers Act to exempt
from the prohibition on Commission registration certain investment advisers
that provide advisory services through the Internet. An adviser is eligible for
registration under the rule if the adviser provides investment advice to all of
its clients exclusively through the adviser's interactive website, except that
the adviser may advise fewer than 15 clients through other means during the
preceding 12 months.

4. Rule 203 A-2(e) of the Advisers Act allows Internet Investment Advisers to register

with the Commission with an AUM less than the minimum $100 million if the adviser “[p]rovides

investment advice to all of its clients exclusively through an interactive website, except that the

investment adviser may provide investment advice to fewer than 15 clients through other means

during the preceding twelve months.” Advisers Act Rule 203A-2(e).

(e) Internet investment advisers.
(1) An investment adviser that:
(i) Provides investment advice to all of its clients exclusively through an
interactive website, except that the investment adviser may provide
investment advice to fewer than 15 clients through other means during the
preceding twelve months;
(ii) Maintains, in an easily accessible place, for a period of not less than
five years from the filing of a Form ADV that includes a representation
that the adviser is eligible to register with the Commission under
paragraph (e) of this section, a record demonstrating that it provides
investment advice to its clients exclusively through an interactive website
in accordance with the limits in paragraph (e)(1)(i) of this section; and
(iii) Does not control, is not controlled by, and is not under common
control with, another investment adviser that registers with the
Commission under paragraph (b) of this section solely in reliance on the
adviser registered under paragraph (e) of this section as its registered
adviser.

! Effective September 19, 2011, rule 203A-2(f) was renumbered as rule 203A-2(e) and the threshold was raised from
$25 million to $100 million. See Rules Implementing Amendments to the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, SEC Rel.

No. IA-3221 (June 22, 2011), 2011 WL 2482892.
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(2) For purposes of paragraph (e) of this section, interactive website means
a website in which computer software-based models or applications
provide investment advice to clients based on personal information each
client supplies through the website.

(3) An investment adviser may rely on the definition of client in §
275.202(a)(30)-1 in determining whether it provides investment advice to
fewer than 15 clients under paragraph (e)(1)(i) of this section.

5. Advisers Act Section 204(a) provides that all records of [registered] investment

advisers, “are subject at any time, or from time to time, to such reasonable periodic, special, or

other examinations by representatives of the Commission as the Commission deems necessary or

appropriate in the public interest or for the protection of investors.” Advisers Act Section 204(a).

SEC. 204. (a) IN GENERAL.—Every investment adviser who makes use
of the mails or of any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce in
connection with his or its business as an investment adviser (other than one
specifically exempted from registration pursuant to section 203(b) of this
title), shall make and keep for prescribed periods such records (as defined in
section 3(a)(37) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934), furnish such copies
thereof, and make and disseminate such reports as the Commission, by rule,
may prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the
protection of investors. All records (as so defined) of such investment advisers
are subject at any time, or from time to time, to such reasonable periodic,
special, or other examinations by representatives of the Commission as the
Commission deems necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the

protection of investors.

6. Section 204 of the Advisers Act and Rule 204-2 require that investment advisers

registered with the Commission maintain and preserve certain books and records. Rule 204-2(a)

sets forth certain categories of books and records that registered investment advisers are required

to “make and keep true, accurate and current” with respect to their investment advisory business.

The required books and records include certain financial records, including cash receipts and

disbursements, general and auxiliary ledgers reflecting asset, liability, reserve, capital, income

and expense accounts; all check books, bank statements, cancelled checks and cash
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reconciliations of the investment adviser; and all trial balances, financial statements, and internal
audit working papers relating to the business of such investment adviser.

§ 275.204-2 Books and records to be maintained by investment advisers.

(a) Every investment adviser registered or required to be registered under section
203 of the Act (15 U.S.C. 80b-3) shall make and keep true, accurate and current
the following books and records relating to its investment advisory business;

(1) A journal or journals, including cash receipts and disbursements, records, and
any other records of original entry forming the basis of entries in any ledger.

(2) General and auxiliary ledgers (or other comparable records) reflecting asset,
liability, reserve, capital, income and expense accounts.

(4) All check books, bank statements, cancelled checks and cash reconciliations
of the investment adviser.

(6) All trial balances, financial statements, and internal audit working papers
relating to the business of such investment adviser.

7. For aiding and abetting liability under the federal securities laws, the Division must
establish: (1) that a primary securities law violation was committed by another party; (2) awareness
by the aider and abettor that his or her role was part of an overall activity that was improper; and
(3) that the aider and abettor knowingly and substantially assisted the conduct that constitutes the
violation. Bogar, 2013 WL 3963608, at *20; Graham v. SEC, 222 F.3d 994, 1000 (D.C. Cir.
2000).

Bogar: For “aiding and abetting” liability under the federal securities laws,
three elements must be established: (1) a primary or independent securities
law violation committed by another party; (2) awareness or knowledge by the
aider and abettor that his or her role was part of an overall activity that was
improper; and (3) that the aider and abettor knowingly and substantially
assisted the conduct that constitutes the violation.

Graham:

Although variously formulated, three principal elements are required to establish
liability for aiding and abetting a violation of section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5: (1) that
a principal committed a primary violation; (2) that the aider and abettor provided
substantial assistance to the primary violator; and (3) that the aider and abettor had
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the necessary “scienter’-i.e., that she rendered such assistance knowingly or
recklessly. See SEC v. Fehn, 97 F.3d 1276, 1287-88 (9th Cir.1996); Bloor v. Carro,
Spanbock, Londin, Rodman & Fass, 754 F.2d 57, 62 (2d Cir.1985); SEC v. Falstaff
Brewing Corp., 629 F.2d 62, 72 (D.C.Cir.1980); Investors Research Corp. v. SEC,
628 F.2d 168, 178 (D.C.Cir.1980); see also SEC v. Steadman, 967 F.2d 636, 641
(D.C.Cir.1992).

8. “A person cannot escape aiding and abetting liability by claiming ignorance of the
securities laws.” Bogar, 2013 WL 3963608, at *20; In re Sharon M. Graham, et al., SEC Rel. No.
34-40727, 1998 WL 823072, at *7 n.33 (Nov. 30, 1998). The “knowledge” or “awareness”
requirement can be satisfied by recklessness when the alleged aider and abettor is a fiduciary or an
active participant. Bogar, 2013 WL 3963608, at *20.

A person cannot escape aiding and abetting liability by claiming ignorance of the

securities laws. See Sharbn M. Graham, 53 S.E.C. 1072, 1084 n.33 (1998), affd,

222 F.3d 994 (D.C. Cir. 2000). The knowledge or awareness requirement can be

satisfied by recklessness when the alleged aider and abettor is a fiduciary or active

participant.

9. For “causing” liability, the Division must establish: (1) a primary violation; (2) an
act or omission by the respondent that was a cause of the violation; and (3) the defendant knew, or
should have known, that his conduct would contribute to the violation. /d. A respondent who aids
and abets a violation is also a cause of the violations under the federal securities laws. Id.
Negligence is sufficient to establish liability for causing a primary violation that does not require
scienter. Id.

For “causing” liability, three elements must be established: (1) a primary
violation; (2) an act or omission by the respondent that was a cause of the
violation; and (3) the respondent knew, or should have known, that his conduct
would contribute to the violation. Robert M. Fuller, 56 S.E.C. 976, 984 (2003),
petition for review denied, 95 F. App'x 361 (D.C. Cir. 2004). A respondent who
aids and abets a violation also is a cause of the violation under the federal

securities laws. See Graham, 53 S.E.C. at 1085 n.35. Negligence is sufficient to
establish liability for causing a primary violation that does not require scienter.
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10.  Sections 203(e) and 203(f) of the Advisers Act authorize the Court to revoke the
registration of any investment adviser, or of an associated person of an investment adviser, if it
finds it is in the public interest and that, among other reasons, the adviser has willfully violated any
provision of the Advisers Act or rules thereunder.

11.  Revocation is an appropriate remedy where an investment adviser has failed to
cooperate with a Commission examination. See, e.g., In the Matter of The Barr Financial Group,
Inc., Admin. Proc. File No. 3-9918, Advisers Act Release No. 2179 (Oct. 3, 2003), 81 SEC Docket
828, 843 (revoking investment adviser’s registration and barring its president from associating with
any investment adviser for, among other things, failing to cooperate with a Commission
examination); Schield Mgmt. Co. & Marshall L. Schield, Release No. 2477 (Jan. 31, 2006) (“We
have held previously that the failure to cooperate with a Commission examination constitutes
‘serious misconduct’ justifying strong sanctions.”)

Schield Mgmt at *10-11:

The industry cannot tolerate an investment adviser that, holding a fiduciary
position, would undermine the regulatory system by deliberately thwarting a
Commission examination. In this connection, we note that Respondents' lack of
cooperation during the examination necessitated repeated requests for documents
and the convening of a meeting among Commission staff, a Commission
supervisor, Schield, and his attorney to demand prompt production of withheld
documents. As the lead examiner testified at the hearing, the need for such a
meeting was unprecedented in the over 150 examinations that she had conducted
over her ten-year career. Despite that meeting and the staff's repeated requests for
documents, Respondents’ lack of cooperation continued until the injunctive action
was filed. Moreover, because of Respondents' actions, Commission staff was
compelled to spend a significant amount of money to safeguard the Firm's
records. The record demonstrates that Schield was responsible for SMC's
misconduct.

*11 Taken as a whole, the factual allegations in the Complaint and the record
evidence introduced at the hearing indicate that strong sanctions should be
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imposed on Respondents. Despite Respondents' repeated attempts to “minimize
[the] gravity” of their misconduct, the sanctions imposed will serve both as a
means of “protecting the public” from harm at Respondents' hands and “as a
deterrent to others.” As we stated previously in a similar context, Respondents’
actions “demonstrate[] either that [Respondents] fundamentally misunderstand the
regulatory obligations to which they are subject or that they hold those obligations
in contempt.” In either case, Respondents' misconduct warrants their exclusion
from the securities industry. Accordingly, we hold that, under the circumstances,
it is in the public interest to revoke SMC's investment adviser registration and to
bar Schield from association with any investment adviser or broker-dealer.

12.  “In evaluating whether an administrative sanction serves the public interest, [the
Commission] consider{s], among other things, the egregiousness of a respondent's actions, the
isolated or recurrent nature of the infraction, the degree of scienter involved, the sincerity of the
respondent's assurances against future violations, the respondent's recognition of the wrongful
nature of his or her conduct, and the likelihood that the respondent's occupation will present
opportunities for future violations. [It] also considers the extent to which the sanction will have a
deterrent effect. ﬁe appropriate sanction depends on the facts and circumstances of each case. /d.

13. Section 203(k) of the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80b-3(k), authorizes the Court to
impose a cease-and-desist order upon any person who “is violating, has violated, or is about to
violate” any provision of the Advisers Act or the rules and regulations thereunder, as well as any
other person that is, was, or would be a cause of the violation.

14.  “The risk of future violations required to support a cease-and-desist order is
significantly less than that required for an injunction, and, absent evidence to the contrary, a single
past violation ordinarily suffices to raise a sufficient risk of future violations.” In re Rodney R.
Schoemann, 2009 WL 3413043, at *12-13 (Oct. 23, 2009), aff’d, 2010 WL 4366036 (D.C. Cir.

2010). The Court should also “consider the function that a cease-and-desist order will serve in
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alerting the public that a respondent has violated the securities laws.” In re Fundamental Portfolio
Advisers, Inc., 2003 WL 21658248, at *18 (July 15, 2003).

15. Section 203(i) of the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80b-3(i), authorizes the Court to
impose a civil monetary penalty against a respondent who willfully violated, inter alia, the
Adpvisers Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. A “willful” violation is one in which the
actor intends to do the act which constitutes his violation; willfulness does not require showing that
the violator acted with knowledge that his conduct was unlawful. Wonsover v. SEC, 205 F.3d 408,
413-15 (D.D.C. 2000). “Included within a violation of the Advisers Act is the aiding and abetting
of principal violations.” SEC v. DiBella, 587 F.3d 553, 571(2™ Cir. 2009).

Wonsover:

In the context of the provision at issue here, we have rejected the knowledge and the
reckless disregard standards and defined willfulness thus:

It is only in very few criminal cases that “willful” means done with a bad
purpose. Generally, it means no more than that the person charged with the
duty knows what he is doing. It does not mean that, in addition, he must
suppose that he is breaking the law [citation omitted].

In Gearhart & Otis, Inc. v. SEC, 348 F.2d 798 (D.C.Cir.1965), we rejected the argument
“that specific intent to violate the law is an essential element of the willfulness required to
violate Section 15(b)” and noted that the argument “ha[d] been rejected by this court, by
the Second Circuit, and by the Commission.” 348 F.2d at 802-03. We further stated that
“[i]t has been uniformly held that ‘willfully’ in this context means intentionally committing
the act which constitutes the violation” and rejected the contention that “the actor [must]
also be aware that he is violating one of the Rules or Acts.” Id. at 803.

16.  “A monetary penalty is designed to serve as a deterrent against securities law
violations.” Lybrand, 281 F. Supp. 2d at 729.

17.  Before assessing a civil penalty, the Court must conclude that it is in the public
interest to do so. Whether a proposed penalty is in the public interest is considered in light of six

factors: (1) whether the violation involved fraud, deceit, manipulation, or a reckless disregard of a
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regulatory requirement; (2) whether any harm to others to others resulted from the violation; (3)
the extent of the wrongdoer’s unjust enrichment; (4) whether there are any prior violations; (5)
whether there is a need to deter the wrongdoer or others from such violations; and (6) such other
matters as justice may require. Advisers Act Section 203(1)(3) [15 U.S.C. § 78u-2].

18.  Other factors that may also be considered are: (1) the egregiousness of the
violations at issue; (2) the degree of Respondents’ scienter; (3) the repeated nature of their
violations; (4) their failure to admit their wrongdoing; (5) whether their conduct created substantial
losses or the risk of substantial losses to other persons; (6) their lack of cooperation and honesty
with authorities, if any; and (7) whether a penalty that would otherwise be appropriate should be
reduced due to respondent’s demonstrated current and future financial condition. SEC v. Lybrand,
281 F. Supp. 2d 726, 730 (S.D.N.Y. 2003), aff’d, 425 F.3d 143 (2d Cir. 2005).

Lybrand: General factors that courts look to in imposing those penalties include (1)

the egregiousness of the violations at issue, (2) defendants' scienter, (3) the repeated

nature of the violations, (4) defendants' failure to admit to their wrongdoing; (5)

whether defendants' conduct created substantial losses or the risk of substantial

losses to other persons; (6) defendants' lack of cooperation and honesty with

authorities, if any; and (7) whether the penalty that would otherwise be appropriate

should be reduced due to defendants' demonstrated current and future financial

condition.

19.  Penalties are statutorily authorized in three tiers and differ for “natural persons” and
“other persons,” or entities. 15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(e)(2). The original statutory penalty amounts have
been adjusted over time for inflation. 17 C.F.R. § 201.1004. For acts committed after March 4,
20009, first-tier penalties may be imposed in the amount of $7,500 for individuals and $75,000 for
entities per violation. 15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(e)(2)(A); 17 C.F.R. Pt. 201, Subpt. E, Table IV. Where
the violative act involved fraud, deceit, manipulation, or deliberate or reckless disregard of a

regulatory requirement, second-tier penalties may be imposed in the amount of $75,000 for

individuals and $325,000 for entities per violation. 15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(e)(2)(B); 17 C.F.R. Pt. 201,
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Subpt. E, Table IV. If the violative act or omission involved fraud, deceit, manipulation, or
deliberate or reckless disregard of a regulatory requirement, and directly or indirectly resulted in
substantial losses or created a significant risk of substantial losses to other persons or resulted in
substantial pecuniary gain to the person who committed the act or omission, a third-tier penalty
may be imposed of $150,000 for individuals and $725,000 for entities per violation. 15 U.S.C. §

80b-9(e)(2)(C); 17 C.F.R. Pt. 201, Subpt. E, Table IV.
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